ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE RESOURCES COWM TTEE
May 3, 2002
3:40 p. m

MEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or John Torgerson, Chair
Senator Gary W/l ken, Vice Chair
Senat or Robi n Tayl or

Senat or Ben Stevens

Senat or Kim El ton

Senat or Ceor gi anna Lincoln
MEMBERS ABSENT

Senator Rick Hal ford

COW TTEE CALENDAR

Confirmati on Hearings

Board of Fisheries
Art Nel son
Gerry Merrigan
Brett Huber
Commerci al Fisheries Entry Conm ssi oner
Mary McDowel |

SENATE BI LL NO. 371

"An Act exenpting the use of nmunitions in certain areas from a
waste di sposal permt requi r enent of the Departnent of
Envi ronnment al Conservation."

MOVED CSSB 371( RES) OUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
SB 371 - No previous action to consider.
W TNESS REG STER
M. Joe Bal ash
Staff to Senator Therriault
Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Conmented on SB 371 for the sponsor.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -1- May 3, 2002



Ms. Pam M| er

ACAT

505 W Northern Lights

Anchorage AK 99501

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Opposed SB 371.

M. Steve Oeary

Al aska Public Information Research G oup
POB 101093

Anchorage AK 99501

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Opposed SB 371.

Ms. Nancy Hi |l strand

POB 170

Homer AK 99603

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Opposed SB 371.

M. Tom Chapple, D rector

Division of Alr and Water Quality

Depart ment of Environnental Conservation
555 Cordova St.

Anchorage AK 99501

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Commented on SB 371.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

TAPE 02-25, SIDE A
Number 001

CHAI RMAN JOHN TORGERSON called the Senate Resources Conmittee
neeting to order at 3:40 p.m and announced the conmttee would
first take up Mary MDowell's reappointnment to the Conmmerci al
Fi sheries Entry Comm ssion (CFEC).

M5. MARY MCDOWELL told nenbers she has been nominated for a
second term She has experienced the fisheries from the
governnment side as a legislative staffer for 16 years and was a
fish buyer in a rural comunity for 18 years. She learned a | ot
in her first termin office and hopes to have the opportunity to
use that experience during a second term

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked why she wanted to be reappoi nt ed.

M5. MCDOWELL replied that this is a career job, but she also
believes that she has sonething to contribute and she cares
deeply about the fishing industry in the state. She added, "I
think it's one of the nost inportant things we have going as far
as a sustainable econonmy that creates a lot of jobs in this

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 2- May 3, 2002



state. It's at a transition point right now and | would really
like to be part of helping everyone work through these next
coupl e of years.™

SENATOR ELTON said he hadn't heard any opposition to Mary
McDowel | s reappointnent. He thought Mary would be an asset in
getting through the challenges facing the fishing industry,
especially in the salnon fisheries.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON said that M. MDowell has hel ped him over
sone hurdles and has been a pleasure to work with.

SENATOR LI NCOLN noved to forward the nom nation of Mary MDowel |
to the full Senate for consideration. There were no objections
and it was so ordered.

#SB371
SB 371-WASTE PERM T & COASTAL ZONE EXEMPTI ONS

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON announced SB 371 to be up for consideration.

MR. JCE BALASH, staff to Senator Therriault, said SB 371 cane
about after the US. Arny contacted Senator Therriault in
relation to the passage of SB 356. On April 12, 2002, a group of
people sued the US. Arny for allegedly operating an artillery
range w thout obtaining a waste disposal permt. In discussing
the matter with the Departnent of Environnmental Conservation
(DEC), departnent staff said they never interpreted the statutes
to require a waste disposal permt for operating an artillery
range. Rather than chance having a federal judge interpret a
state law in a particular way, the Arny requested that the
| egi slature make it clear in statute that a waste di sposal permt
is not required on an active range. He said the House adopted a
commttee substitute (CS) in a conpanion bill that clarifies that
this | anguage woul d cover state and private ranges as wel |.

SENATOR LINCOLN said she has concerns because |ive ammunition
exists on sone mlitary ranges, therefore fires cannot be fought
on those ranges. She said she has heard repeated concerns in her
district that the mlitary is not cleaning up its site. She
stated, “lI am concerned that we are taking another check off of
having a waste disposal permt. | don’t know what the problemis
with getting a permt for the mlitary.” She questioned whether
the process is tinme consumng and why this bill is before the
| egi sl ature.

VR. BALASH said that regarding the unexploded nunitions
ordi nance, DEC has testified that it fully intends to maintain

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 3- May 3, 2002



its ability to maintain oversight of it. In addition, this bil
will not restrict DECs ability to continue to deal wth
contam nated areas. He pointed out the lawsuit is asking the
judge to consider projectiles as waste. DEC s current definition
of solid waste doesn't apply to projectiles.

M5. PAM MLLER said she represented the plaintiffs. The ngjor
points they are seeking in this litigation are to define what
portions of the Federal C ean Water Act and other federal |aws
apply to this range and to cl eanup the unexpl oded ordi nance under
the Superfund law. Her group tried to settle this matter out of
court. They know the Arnmy has nore than 10,000 unexpl oded
munitions in and around the Eagle River flats and the toxicity of
those nunitions poses a danger to wildlife and people in the
area. The exenption fromexisting state law is not necessary and
woul d undermne the state's authority to admnister pollution
control laws and endanger state program certification. The
Department of Defense is also seeking exenptions under federa
| aw. She opposed passage of SB 371.

MR. STEVE CLEARY, Alaska Public Information Research G oup
(AkPIRG, stated opposition to SB 371 and sai d:

No agency should be above the law, particularly one
responsible for six different [indisc.] sites in
Al aska, which the mlitary is responsible for and
should be held accountable to. W hear our GCovernor
talk a | ot about doing devel opnent right and I think we
need to apply that to the US mlitary as well,
particularly when they are creating public health and
safety hazards.

MR. CLEARY said he couldn't understand the purpose of this bil
other than to avoid responsibility for cleaning up Eagle River
flats and to avoid being held accountable in a court of |aw.

M5. NANCY HI LLSTRAND opposed SB 371. She said it is a health and
safety issue and, as the other speakers have said, U S. citizens
have the responsibility to keep everything clean and orderly and
the U S. Governnent should be a shining exanple of how to do
busi ness.

MR. TOM CHAPPLE, Director, Division of Ar and Water Quality,
DEC, said the bill before them actually covers several functions
at DEC, both its Solid Waste Program its Contamnated Sites
Program and wastewater permtting. He said he has three points to
make. First, the legislation makes changes to the permtting
authority for an activity that in their view does not need a
permt. DEC doesn't intend to require permts for the current

SENATE RES COW TTEE -4- May 3, 2002



activities on an active mlitary firing range or training range.
DEC s current reading of existing law is that current practices
do not constitute solid waste and do not require a permt.
However, once a site is closed, DEC may require a site closure
pl an.

The second point is, that while no permit is required for this
activity, DEC has other responsibilities in primarily two areas.
First, if the range activity causes pollution, even if the site
is still active, DEC has an obligation to address that problem
with the Arny. Furthernore, upon closure of the range, DEC w |
ensure that the site poses no ongoing threat to the health or the
environment. It's clear that this legislation is not intended to
affect DEC s ability to deal with contamnation at an active
firing range should contam nation pose a risk. DEC has worked in
the past with the Arny to determne that ingestion of white

phosphorus was killing waterfow and as a result the Arny has
quit wusing white phosphorous nationwi de where it would inpact
wetlands. In addition, on the Eagle River flats the problem

occurred only when the ground was frozen.

Due to historic hazardous substances releases, in 1994 Fort
Ri chardson was put on the Superfund list and the Arny, the State,
and EPA eventually signed a three-way agreenent that detailed how
the facility was going to be investigated and cl eaned up.

Hs third point was that there is a significant national effort
under way right now by the Departnent of Defense to address what,
if any, changes to national and state environnmental |aws are
necessary for national security and conbat readiness. The
Department of Defense addressed a neeting |last week in Wsconsin
of all states’ environnental staff. The Departnent of Defense
prom sed the states that the limtations it is seeking will be
surgi cal

He added that SB 371 is not the result of any problem the Arny
has had working with DEC. While he worked cooperatively with the
sponsor and the Arny on this legislation to ensure that the
| anguage does not jeopardize other inportant work that DEC is
doing, he is concerned that this change mght lead to litigation.
He urged conmittee nmenbers to consi der whether this would be nore
appropriately done at a national level first.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON announced an at-ease while teleconference
equi pnent was being fixed. He called the neeting back to order at
4:10 p. m

MR. CHAPPLE asked the conmttee to consider that a significant
effort is underway at the national level to try to address what
exclusions to environnental |aws are necessary for conbat
readi ness. He asked the commttee to consider whether it is

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 5- May 3, 2002



appropriate to address this issue at the state |level or to allow
the national level to take the |ead.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON asked if it is correct to say that M. Chapple
has no position on the bill because it doesn't really affect DEC
and that he does not intend to permit mlitary ranges. If issues
Wi th hazardous nmaterials or air quality arise, he would respond
to that anyway.

MR. CHAPPLE said that is a very good sunmary of what he said.

SENATOR ELTON asked if DEC s definition of solid waste is in
statute or regulation.

MR. CHAPPLE replied that the definitionis in AS 46.03.900 and is
definition 25.

SENATOR ELTON asked M. Chappl e how DEC deals with the Departnent
of Transportation and Public Facilities (DOTPF) when it does
aval anche work.

MR. CHAPPLE said DEC does not require any permts for aval anche
control. He explained that the definition of solid waste hinges
upon whether the waste material 1is being disposed of or
abandoned. Until a mlitary site is closed, the waste nmaterial is
not bei ng di sposed of or abandoned.

SENATOR ELTON clarified that his question surrounds the fact that
aval anche control work is acconplished by firing explosives into
cor ni ces.

MR. CHAPPLE said DEC has never required a permt for a discharge
out of an artillery weapon.

SENATOR STEVENS proposed a conceptual anmendnent (nunber 1) to:

Insert “conventional mlitary” on line 6, after "of" and to
delete "active" and insert "designated lived fire ranges"”. The
rewor ded sentence woul d read:

This section does not apply to discharges resulting
fromthe firing or other use of conventional mlitary
muni tions in training activities conduct ed on
designated live fire ranges operated by the United
States Departnent of Defense or a United States
mlitary agency.

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked how that woul d i nprove the bill
SENATOR STEVENS responded that he talked to senior mlitary

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 6- May 3, 2002



officials when they were here for the Joint Armed Services
Committee. In the Lauterbach I|egal opinion, there was sone
concern about the definition of a live fire range and the
definitions of what nunitions would be exenpt under this proposed
| egi sl ati on. He expl ai ned:

This essentially confines it to conventional mlitary
munitions and |l eaves it at active designated live fire
ranges. Therefore, it doesn't bring up any indication
or allow anything to be considered in terns of renedial
of sites that have occurred in the past. It only occurs
to live sites and conventional mlitary munitions.

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked if the word "active" will be del et ed.

SENATOR STEVENS said that is correct and that it will be changed
t o desi gnat ed.

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked if that neans that a designated live fire
range has to be an active designated live fire range.

SENATOR STEVENS replied that the explanation he heard is that a
range is either a designated range or it's not. If it's not
designated, it goes into a renedial work status.

SENATOR THERRI AULT said the bill is wrded to also cover
municipal rifle ranges. H's concern is if it's limted to apply
only to mlitary ranges that, by omssion, mght nean that a
solid waste permt is now going to be required on nunicipal rifle
ranges or at areas where hunters traditionally site their rifles,
for exanple at abandoned DOTPF gravel pits. He said that m ght
create a problemfor DEC at areas where it does not require solid
waste permts.

CHAI RVAN TORCGERSON responded, “Didn’t you have that problem
bef ore?”

SENATOR THERRI AULT replied that he thought the wording was broad
enough.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON noted the anmendnent says firing ranges
operated by the Departnent of Defense. He said the House
Resources Committee added the word "including” before "active" so
that it reads, “including active ranges operated by the United
States...”

MR. BALASH explained that the House Resources |anguage states,
"This section does not apply to the firing or other use of
munitions in training activities conducted on active ranges,”.

MR. BALASH said they could acconmpdate Senator Stevens’ | anguage

SENATE RES COW TTEE -7- May 3, 2002



followng the conmm so that it 1is <clear it applies to
conventional mlitary ordi nance bei ng used on a desi gnated range.

SENATOR ELTON said the problem seens to be the |anguage on line
7, which [imts activity.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON asked M. Balash and M. Chapple to work on
that |anguage while the commttee took up the confirmation
heari ngs.

#

CONFI RVATI ON HEARI NGS

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON said the commttee wuld take wup the
confirmation of Brett Huber to the Board of Fisheries. M.
Huber’s seat will expire June 30, 2005.

MR. BRETT HUBER said he lives in Soldotna with his wife and
children and is an 18-year Al aska resident. He noted, "A big
reason, a big part of what noved ne to Alaska is the opportunity
to participate in hunting and fishing." He said regarding why he
wants to serve on the Board of Fish, he sees it as an extrenely
inportant function as Alaska's fisheries are an integral part of
the cultural, social economc fabric of Alaska. He hopes to
return sonmething in the form of public service to the fisheries
that have been good to him He brings some skills to the
position. He believes he has a good understanding of the
constitutional, statutory and regulatory framework for fisheries
in Al aska and he understands and has participated in the board
process. He said that board nenbers should be able to facilitate
di scussion. He said he is also famliar with the nmanagenent
agencies. He reviewed his professional qualifications and
provided the commttee with a copy of his resune. He noted he
omtted one affiliation that being that he is an ex-officio
director of the Al aska Fisheries Devel opnent Foundati on.

MR. HUBER said he is currently the executive director of the
Kenai Sport Fishing Association (KSFA) whose mission is to
preserve the Kenai R ver through protecting fish habitat,
provi di ng educati on and pronoting responsi ble sport fishing. KSFA
deals with angler access, conservation and public education
issues. He is an annual salaried enployee. He said his position
is not dependent wupon Board decisions. There are potential
conflicts, however, as anyone would have with public service and
t hose nust be disclosed and ruled on by the Chair.

He has been accused of being against consunptive use, but that
woul d come as a surprise to his famly and people who know him
who have participated in fisheries wwth himin various areas of
the state, who harvest, prepare and eat fish with him Wen he
has all he can eat, he participates in the sport and lets the

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 8- May 3, 2002



fish go. He has also been accused of ignoring science or
advocating for positions in conflict with sound biology. He
stated, "I in no way believe that public opinion ought to sway
sound sci ence.."

He said he has al so been accused of advocating for the dem se of
the commercial fisheries and that can't be further from the
truth:

Commer ci al fisheries are extrenely inportant to
Al aska.l think there are sonme substantial hurdles and
chal |l enges ahead for the Al aska salnon industry and
think having soneone that brings a sport fish

perspective is willing to work in that process can be
beneficial as we work to address those issues. | don't
think it's the Board's job to come up wth the
solutions. | don't think the Board probably can; |

think it's going to take a lot of folks working
together and the industry is going to have to bring
sone ideas forward and it's the Board's responsibility
to work through those ideas with them

TAPE 02-25, SIDE B

MR. HUBER said a Board of Fish nenber should listen to all user
and gear groups, rely on sound science, manage conservatively if
information is |acking, seek advice from the managers on what is
consi dered sustainable, etc. and fully consider the inplications
of the board’ s decisions. The process should be transparent and
under st andabl e, fair and consistent. He renmarked:

M. Chairman and nenbers of the commttee, should | be

confirmed to this inportant position, | ook forward to
doing ny level best to neet those expectations for
others. | look forward to working, if | have the

chance, with ny other appointees and the four dedicated
folks that are continuing their service and 1'd be
happy to try to answer any questions for you.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON said he would have M. Huber wait for the
committee to deal with SB 371 and then conme right back to him

#SB371
SB 371-WASTE PERM T & COASTAL ZONE EXEMPTI ONS

CHAI RMAN TORGERSON announced SB 371 to be wup again for
consi derati on.

SENATOR STEVENS noved to wi thdraw Anendnment 1. There were no
objections and it was so ordered.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 9- May 3, 2002



CHAI RVAN TORGERSON noted that the | anguage they were considering
was House | anguage that was adopted earlier in the neeting.

SENATOR TAYLOR noved to adopt Anendnent 2.

SENATOR LI NCOLN objected and explained that Amendnent 2 is so
broad that it doesn't apply to firing or other use of nmunitions
intraining activities conducted on active ranges including those
by the mlitary. The sponsor stated it wasn't the intent to have
municipalities involved in the exenption for firing ranges.

The notion to adopt Anendnent 2 carried with SENATORS W LKEN,
TAYLOR, STEVENS and CHAIRMAN TORGERSON voting in favor, and
SENATORS ELTON and LI NCOLN opposed.

SENATOR TAYLOR nmoved to pass CSSB 371(RES) from conmmittee with
i ndi vi dual recommendati ons.

SENATOR ELTON objected, saying that the commttee had taken a
bill that addressed a very discrete problem and dramatically
increased its scope without taking any testinmony at all on the
i npacts. He said that he couldn't recall any problens Juneau had
in establishing a safe and active firing rang. He added:

The nost conpelling testinony was that we may be in a
position of nmaking a change to state law, but wll
maybe need to return following the national initiative
that is going to try to standardize the rules under

which the mlitary operates. | think we've broadened it
to a great extent and we may be getting ahead of a
process that wll hopefully provide a standardized

method for the mlitary to operate when dealing with
t hese i ssues.

SENATOR TAYLOR said he made the nmotion to npve the bill for a
speci fic purpose:

My son-in-law serves today as a captain in Special
Forces in the United States Arnmy. He's based at Fort
Cole where he's doing reviews of special forces unit
teams that conme through and go through wvarious
difficult training exercises and he nust review them
Those sane young nen end up in places |ike Afghani stan
and other places in the world today. Before shipping
them into harms way, | want them to have every single
opportunity available, the finest training we can
provi de. Alaska retains its mlitary bases in |ight of
the [indisc.] base closures primarily because we do
have the free fire training ranges that we have

SENATE RES COW TTEE -10- May 3, 2002



available for that personnel in this state. | f
political correctness is going to get in the way of
defending this nation, then | want to be standing right
out in front and say |I'm not going to be politically
correct on this one and I'mvery proud of it...

SENATOR W LKEN said he wanted to associate hinself with those
remarks. His son-in-law is Mjor Caneron Curry, an A-10 pilot
stationed at Eielson Air Force Base. He stated, "In no way, shape
or formwould | sit at this table while |I do anything to di m nish
his training capabilities unless there is a clear and present
danger to the people of Al aska..

SENATOR ELTON said he didn't know how to begin to respond. He
agreed with the coments from the previous speakers. He
personally trained on live fire ranges and that training was very
beneficial to himwhen he was in a live fire zone in Vietnam He
woul d hate to | eave the inpression that his vote on this bill has
anything to do with political correctness or with wanting to
interfere with the training mssion of the US mlitary. He
sai d:

W have not heard testinony that would even suggest
that. So | want to nake it very clear to the nenbers of
this commttee that ny negative vote has absolutely
nothing to do wth the coments that were nade
previ ously.\W have not heard testinony that that would
happen. |, too, believe as they do that we ought to do
nothing that would mnimze the kind of training our
men in uni form have.

SENATOR LI NCOLN sai d she was of fended that nenbers suggested that
voting against noving this bill from comrttee nmeans that she's
not patriotic or supportive of the mlitary. She added:

To the contrary, | support the mlitary 100% and have
done so ny 12 years here. My problemw th this is that
we're exenpting a permt requirenent and | didn't hear
from Tom that that stopped in any way the process from
going on, in that if we need to expedite a permt,
that's one thing, but just to elimnate a permt
requirenent is of concern to ne, regardless who it is.

SENATOR THERRI AULT responded that he wanted to nmake it clear to
the conmttee that passage of the CS does nothing nore than
enshrine a current admnistrative interpretation of the statutes.
It doesn't renpbve a current permt regulation. It does nean that
a federal <court 1is not going to broaden or change our
adm nistrative interpretation of our own statutes against our
will.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -11- May 3, 2002



CHAI RMAN TORCGERSON asked for a roll call vote on the notion to
nove the bill out of commttee.

The notion carried with SENATORS LINCOLN and ELTON opposed and
SENATORS TAYLOR, W LKEN, STEVENS and TORGERSON in favor.
#

CONFI RVATI ON HEARI NGS

CHAI RMAN TORGERSON noted that the conmttee was ready to ask
guestions of M. Brett Huber, nom nee to the Board of Fish.

SENATOR LI NCOLN sai d she had a nunber of questions, but wanted to
note that she also had a nunber of communications from out - of -
st at e.

SENATOR LI NCOLN said she gave great kudos to M. Huber for his
work as an aide to the Senate Resources Conmittee, but she has a
nunber of questions for him about his new role. First and
forenost is his involvenent with the Al aska Qutdoor Counci
(ACC), which has clashed with themin the past over managenent of
fish and gane. She was surprised to see that he is vice president
of ACC s political action comrittee. Since she had never received
a check from the AQOC, she assuned that position was very
political and party oriented. She renarked:

That's very, very political when you are contributing
to candidates that are in the |egislature and how woul d
that affect you then sitting on the Board of Fish and
the other party nakes proposals to you? Wat affect
woul d t hat have?

MR. HUBER said the ACCis a political action commttee, but it is
not single party oriented:

There have been endorsenents and contributions nade by
the PAC to nmultiple parties over tinme. Do | sign the
checks for the PAC? No I don't. And | have no problem
resigning that position and intend to do that and have
notified them as such. How that would affect ny
decisions should | be confirned as fit as a Board of
Fi sh nenber? It won't affect those decisions. As | said
in my opening statement, anybody that takes that
i nportant position needs to be able to listen to all
positions, all user groups, all points of view
Certainly we bring sonme personal experiences or life
experiences or perspectives to anything we do, but
public service is public service and it shouldn't cone
in with an agenda or a specific attitude. | would do ny

SENATE RES COW TTEE -12- May 3, 2002



best to listen to all points of view, to consult wth
t he managers to make fair, conscientious decisions.

SENATOR LINCOLN asked if he was part of the PAC group that
deci des who gets the checks.

MR HUBER replied yes and that it's a seven-nenber board.
Questionnaires are sent out to nenbers. He participated in
di scussi ons over candi dates.

SENATOR LI NCOLN sai d she read every single letter about him both
pro and con and that those opposed greatly outweigh those in
favor. She said two letters stand out. One was from soneone who
has known him for a nunber of years, both socially and in
busi ness, and thought M. Huber's opinions were very closed and
he would not change his mnd. He felt that he had nmade up his
m nd ahead of time and the doors are shut. She stated, "A nunber
of letters go in that direction - that you're al ready predi sposed
to your opinion on fisheries and will not listen.”

MR. HUBER r esponded that he di sagrees with that point of view and
that other people say differently. He said, "I can certainly tel
you that the Board of Fish process doesn't work if you don't
listen.”

SENATOR LI NCOLN said sone letters in the “do not confirni stack
said that as the executive director of the KRSA, M. Huber found
faul t wth ADF&G scientific findings and hired outside
consultants for the express purpose of finding fault nore than
once.

MR. HUBER said that science is not always absolutely crystal
clear. Wen it's clear the decisions are easy for the Board to
make, but there are things that we don't know about our fisheries
because information is scant, new or non-existent. Those are the
nore difficult decisions and, when in doubt, you have to be nore
conservative, "because sustainability has to be the ultinmte goa
to take care of any users regardl ess of their perspective.”

Regar di ng her question about the KSFA hiring outside consultants
and biologists to review fisheries data, MR HUBER said it has
and note that is not uncommon, even for ADF&G itself. Wien a
scientific article is going to be published, it goes through a
peer review process. Scientists welcone review by other
i ndi vi dual s.

SENATOR LI NCOLN sai d she thought that nobst of the concerns in the
letters are about M. Huber’s lack of conmmunication skills. She
asked how he planned to build comruni cati on support anong ot her
user groups that are his detractors.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -13- May 3, 2002



MR. HUBER replied:

| think the only way you convince your detractors that
you are sonebody that they can work with and that you
are not deserving of as nmuch angst as you're receiving
is to do your job well. | think the Board process
shoul d be as open as possible; it should be as inviting
to the public as possible. It is best to neet in the
communities that are affected. | think the Board ought
to do as good a job as it can of noticing the issues
it'"s going to be dealing with so people are prepared.
They know what's on the table...

4:55 p. m

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON said he had a letter from the Centra
Peni nsul a Fi sh and Gane Advi sory Board who opposes his nom nation
for nine reasons. Four of themare very inportant. He noted:

Al'l of these start out with a sentence before that you
have drafted and supported proposals to the Board of
Fish that takes biological mnagenent away from the
fisheries and nanagenent bi ol ogi sts.

He asked M. Huber to respond.

MR. HUBER responded that is a generalized statenent. He believes
that fisheries managenent is not a perfect science. Fisheries
change, run predictions are often wong and the ability for
fishery managers to apply adaptive managenent is inportant. Al so,
he thought part of the Board's prerogative is to put plans
together that take care of the fish and are responsible to the
nuner ous user groups that participate in the fishery. He stated,
"The Board has to work very nuch hand in glove with [the
managenent bi ol ogi sts]."

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON sai d the second one takes the emergency order
authority away fromthe managenent bi ol ogi sts.

MR. HUBER replied the only proposal he helped draft was at the
| ast Cook Inlet neeting. He said he has attended many neetings
and commented on board proposals. In the previous cycle, the
Board adopted an abundance-based managenent policy for Cook
Inlet. He helped draft a proposal that |engthened the anmount of
time they could fish to abundance, which is what the managers
said, yet provided for sone passage of fish, because escapenent
involves nore than nunbers; run cycles have to be considered

Components of each run need to escape. The proposal linked it to
time, but didn't specify when the closures would be and | eft that
up to the nmanagers. The KSFA supported proposals that renoved

SENATE RES COW TTEE -14- May 3, 2002



mandatory closures and left that to the discretion of ADF&G

CHAI RMAN TORGERSON said the conmttee received a lot of letters
in opposition to his appointnent fromfol ks who are upset because
of the Board's decision to go to the trophy fishery, catch and
rel ease keeping the larger ones for trophies. This prevents the
| ocal angler from harvesting sal non, but allows non-resident hook
and release. He asked him to coment on that policy, which
everyone has credited to him

MR. HUBER replied that created a |ot of press, but there hadn't
been nmuch give and take. The ADF&G had a grow ng concern for the
| oss of the size conponent of the run of the 5 to 7 year old
fish. The departnent decided not to bring a proposal forward, but
t ook these concerns to the Kenai Sol dotna Advisory Committee, who
drafted a proposal, No. 297, that asked for sonme protections for
those first fish in the first run. 1Its recomendation was
established in a non-retention slot. They wanted to try and
reestablish the age conponent in that run. That proposal cane
before the Board and they discussed options. A lot of the Board
menbers felt they should try catch and rel ease managenent on the
first run for the life cycle of the fish and see what that does
for both nunbers. He added:

It's not just big fish; that runis also a fairly smal
run that has a ot of participation. It's had in-season
restrictions for six of the last 12 years and in-season
regul atory changes for nine of the last 12 years. So do
you try to reduce participation and how would you go
about that or do you try to reduce harvest? Because the
bi ol ogists that |1've talked to all say, if you want to
get nore big fish in a salnmon run, the first thing you
need is nore fish, because big fish are a conponent of
the total run. The Board did take that position and
ended up adopting a policy that said a non-retention
slot for the beginning of the run through June 10, the
| ast 20 days in June, catch and release. As far as
taki ng away harvest opportunity fromthe | ocal anglers,
harvest opportunity on the Kenai River before that
regulation is two fish per year; after that regulatory
change, it's tw fish per year. Certainly, loca
anglers probably have a greater opportunity to
participate when it's not a catch and release fishery
than people that choose to visit during that tine
peri od.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON asked, "What happens if you get a real strong
run and you have this policy there?"

MR. HUBER replied that he asked the nanagers that question and

SENATE RES COW TTEE -15- May 3, 2002



they do not view this as a rigid rule. They believe their
energency order authority would allow them if there are just
| oads of fish comng back in the first run and a big harvestable
surplus that would go wunutilized, to open the fishery. The
Division of Commercial Fisheries Chief Scientist, Doug Eggers,
said that "over-escapenent” is probably a bad word: "It's really
a question of economcs and yield."

SENATOR ELTON said that no one cones to the Board with a clean
slate and he agrees with many of the things M. Huber said. He
asked how he plans to break through comunication barriers as a
board nenber

MR. HUBER replied that he served on the Halibut Subsistence Proxy
Committee for the North Pacific Fisheries Council as the sport
fish representative. He had a great opportunity to discuss issues
with 25 other people and it didn't seemto be a great hindrance
to explain hinself or to understand what others were saying. He
said, "You just have to work through it and do the best job that
you can."

SENATOR ELTON said his concern is that they are asking the Board
of Fish to do near the inpossible with allocation decisions
W t hout the science that we should have avail able to the Board.

MR. HUBER responded that the first folks who approached hi m about
serving on the Board are current Board nenbers, Chairman Gersham
Larry Engle, Dan Coffee, John Wite, Russell Nelson, and G ant
MIller. They assuned those filters would not nake his service
i npossi ble or they would not have urged himto apply.

SENATOR STEVENS asked how many tinmes he had been involved in an
agenda change request.

MR. HUBER replied that he has not filed an agenda change request.
That process is limted in scope to adopting an agenda change
request to correct an error in regulation or for a conservation
reason.

SENATOR STEVENS asked if he was saying that an agenda change had
never been requested for the Kenai Peninsula region.

MR. HUBER replied that neither he nor the Kenai River Sport
Fi shing Association had requested one. He added that the agenda
change requests are reviewed at the fall work session and, in
general, no public testinony is taken. The Board works wth ADF&G
to determ ne whether they think there's an issue that warrants a
change.

SENATOR STEVENS asked if the agenda change is on a three-year
cycl e.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -16- May 3, 2002



MR. HUBER replied it is.

SENATOR STEVENS said that the majority of M. Huber’s invol venent
with the Board of Fish is in one region of the state where the
Board faces the nost divisive allocation issues.

MR. HUBER replied that he also participated in Board of Fish
nmeetings that dealt with Western Al aska and Area M

SENATOR STEVENS said there is a difference in divisiveness
bet ween conmerci al user groups and multiple user groups. He asked
M . Huber how, as a Board nenber, he would view a request for an
agenda change that had happened in the past and he couldn’t
address critical issues to certain regions of the state that have
smal | popul ati ons but where the commercial fishery is inportant.

MR. HUBER said he didn't understand the question.

SENATOR STEVENS said | egislation has been initiated to change the
agenda change request mechani sm He expl ai ned:

If you had a certain area of the state that continually
wants their issues solved in front of the Board at the
expense of solving issues in other areas of the state,
how woul d you respond to that?

MR. HUBER replied that the regulatory process of the Board that
is supposed to be taken up in order should never suffer because
of an agenda change request. The request ought to be considered
on its biological merits or as an unexpected happeni ng because of
a change in regul ation. He added:

The nore the Board can keep to the set schedule and to
provide that notice and that surety to the public, the
better. However, | would never suggest that the Board
shoul d not be able to take sonething up out of cycle if
there is truly a pressing conservation issue that needs
to be taken care of.

SENATOR STEVENS said there is a piece of legislation that changes
the procedures under which an energency order can be ordered
under conservation. He asked M. Huber's opinion on that.

MR. HUBER replied that both the sponsor and ADF&G have told him
that they believe the sanme authority in the bill is available
now, but the bill better delineates how to exercise it in certain
ci rcunst ances.

SENATOR STEVENS said the majority of M. Huber’s involvenent has

SENATE RES COW TTEE -17- May 3, 2002



been from a sport fish perspective in regions nainly where
there's an allocation issue wth comercial fishernmen. But, the
Board manages commercial fishing in areas where there is a non-
existent nultiple user group issue. The issues that face those
regi ons are based on sound managenent and the ability to open and
close fisheries and to set commercial harvests. He asked how M.
Huber woul d rate his capacity to nake decisions |ike that.

MR. HUBER di sagreed that he has only been involved in a single
region and from a certain perspective. He said he also worked
with the Board and ADF&G to put a framework and inplenmentation
pl ans together that affect all fisheries regardless of the user
group through the statewi de escapenent policy and through
meetings in Western Al aska. He stated:

There is a learning curve for any new Board nenber.
Commercial fisheries in areas where there is no sport
fishery tend to have gear groups within the commerci al
fisheries that have differences of opinion. Al of
those things are relying on the nanagers to give you
their advice, relying on the stakeholders, doing your

honmework, listening to your fellow board nenbers that
per haps have nore expertise in an individual area and
doing the best job you can and | believe | have the

capacity to do that. If | did not believe that, sir,
woul d not have applied for the appointnent.

CHAI RMAN TORGERSON read froma letter:

M. Huber states that he feels comrercial fishing is
inportant to the state, but he has neglected to state
that by his direction the philosophy that he's
incorporated with the help of a paid fishery biol ogist
from Oregon was to sacrifice yield in the Cook Inlet
sockeye fishery. Since a sustained high yield of red
salnon is the engine for the commercial fishing in many
areas of the state, how can this nmean M. Huber is
supportive of commercial fishing comunities?

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON asked him how he was going to bring commercia
fisheries and all ocation i ssues to sone sort of resol ution.

MR. HUBER disagreed with the contention that he advocated to
forego harvest of sockeye sal non. He expl ai ned:

The escapenent goal for the Kenai River systemis set
for 500,000 to 800,000 fish. That's a biological
escapenent goal that's arrived at by the managers. The
escapenent goal that canme before and after this |ast

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 18- May 3, 2002



nmeeting was the sane BEG [ biol ogi cal escapenent goal].
We didn't propose a change to the BEG As a matter of
fact, a nunber of ny detractors that are involved in
sone of the questions you' re asking today had nunerous
proposal s before the Board to |ower the BEG regardl ess
of whether that was based on the best biological
information from the managers or not. | «certainly
didn't take that position.

He noted it's not uncommon for a Cook Inlet sport fish
appoi ntnment to have the comercial fishing industry fromall over
the state oppose their nomnation. This has not been the case
with him The Bristol Bay fishernen passed a resolution in
support of him and other commercial fishernmen support him but
they can't come out in support of a sport-fishing candidate. He
not ed:

But certainly, there is a mx. If we nmanage our
fisheries properly on a sustained yield basis and do
the best job that we can, there's not enough fish to
satisfy multiple users in Alaska. | can't inmagi ne where
there woul d be, sir.

TAPE 02-26, SIDE A

SENATOR TAYLOR said he is amazed that the Board currently has a
policy on the Kenai that says you can catch and eat a ki ng sal non
if it's over 55 inches long. He stated:

It would seemto ne that if we catch and eat all the
kind [of] salnon that are |onger than 55 inches | ong,
wthin a very short period of time, we wll have
destroyed a genetic strain for which the Kenai is world
famous, because we're only turning loose the little
fish and we're eating the big fish. | have asked
bi ol ogi sts to explain that to ne...

MR. HUBER responded that a few years ago there was a discussion
about using a catch and release fishery to slow it down in years

that they believe escapenent goals will be net, but there's not a
harvest abl e surplus. They had a policy of catch and rel ease and
retention of fish over 52 inches. In the preceding six years,

ADF&G s information was that 60 or 66 fish were harvested in that
size category. The new size limt is 55 inches. ADF&G s testinony
to the Board indicated there mght be one a year or every two
years that would be harvested. The predomnant 5 to 7 year old
fish fall under the 55-inch category. He added:

| thought about it, Senator, and | said the sane thing
in the House comittee the other day. | started

SENATE RES COW TTEE -19- May 3, 2002



t hi nki ng about, oh yeah, but if there's only tw of
them do you want to kill those two? | would have to
agree and concur that it nmakes nore sense if you're
protecting that big strain of fish that the Kenai is
uni que because of that all of them are released for a
life-cycle of fish to see what kind of rebound in that
age cl ass we see.

SENATOR TAYLOR wi shed hi m good |uck and said, "And as long as no
one cones after ny comrercial fishernen, 1'm not comng after
you. | hope peopl e understand that."

SENATOR LI NCOLN commented on four nore letters from people who
live out-of-state but said the commttee indicated it isn’t
concerned with opinions from people who live out of state. She
then asked if he supports the current efforts for long-term
pl anni ng and the salnon task force for the revitalization of the
Al aska Sal non | ndustry.

MR. HUBER replied:

| think it is absolutely necessary for Al askans to cone
together and |ook for ways to shore up and create a
salnon industry that is economcally sustainable.
Certainly |I support those efforts.

SENATOR LI NCOLN said a gquestion was asked in the House Resources
Comm ttee about whether ADF&G is best suited to nmake biol ogica
deci sions, especially when it cones to agenda change requests for
the Board of Fish and M. Huber had answered yes, they would
provi de the best biological advice. She noted that is contrary to
what he said earlier about seeking outside expertise when it
wasn't provi ded by ADF&G

MR. HUBER replied that he doesn't think those two statenents
conflict because ADF&G itself seeks advice from peers outside the
state as it |ooks at setting escapenent goals. In Wstern Al aska,
for instance, a peer review team was put together that consisted
of renowned sal non biologists from across the states and ADF&G
| ooked at their work. Contracting with biologists outside of
Alaska is normally done by a nunber of advocacy groups in all
areas. He mai nt ai ned:

That's not what the Board of Fish does. The Board of
Fish relies on the advice of the Departnent of Fish and
Game. And the reason | said advice to the Board and
agenda change requests is sonetines you have |ocal
managers that have a |lot of expertise in a specific
area, but you have fisheries that transit that |oca
area and go to another |ocal area. So, the Board often

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 20- May 3, 2002



times has had the benefit of talking to an area
managenent biologist there as well as an area
managenent biologist here that don't always have
exactly the sane view of what regul atory change or what
sci ence needs between those two regions...

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked to see a copy of the resolution in support
of his appointnent by the Bristol Bay fishernen.

SENATOR STEVENS said his question has to do with the Bering Sea
Crab Managenent Plan. About five years ago they reduced the
exploitation rate from 20% to 10% of the estimated bi omass and
there is a sort of industry consensus fromthe harvesting sector
that that didn't do anything to save the biomass. Al it did was
| eave noney on the table or product in the ocean to rot. He asked
M. Huber to expand on what sort of process the board m ght go
through internally to make a decision to either raise or |ower an
exploitation rate of a resource that continually stays in the
ocean and regenerates.

MR. HUBER replied that he would take a stab at it although
shellfish is not his area of expertise. Stakeholders have
different opinions on what to do. Were the Departnent has
reliable information, they say they are confortable wth current
harvest | evels.

SENATOR STEVENS said that this is something people are taking
guesses at and he wanted to know how M. Huber would go about
formul ati ng his guess.

MR. HUBER replied:

You first formulate vyour guess by |listening to
st akehol ders, looking at what information there is,
whether it's scant or not. Then | think one of the

reasons that maybe this is a little bit harder to have
fun at than you would like it to be for nme is the
| egi slative delegation is to conserve and to devel op.
If the delegation was to just conserve, it would be an
easy job. If it was just to develop, it would be an
easy job, but that's the balance that's difficult. So,
when you have stakeholders wanting to develop and
managers saying we need to be conservative or you have
a situation where you don't know or are in doubt,
information is scant, | think you have to err on the
side of that conservation, because you can overdevel op
and not have the chance to conserve. That's the tough
part of the job of the Board of Fish. To say here's ny
road map for doing it upon an individual or all issues,
| think is very difficult. I think it's going to take

SENATE RES COW TTEE -21- May 3, 2002



being in that situation, listening to that discussion,
| ooking at the information and you may use a different
mechani sm or process to get there in one area of your
fishery than you do in another.

CHAI RMVAN TORGERSON t hanked M. Huber for sitting one and a half
hours on the hot seat. He said they would next take up GCerry
Merrigan's nom nati on.

5:30 p. m

MR. MERRI GAN noted that copies of his two-page resune are in
menbers’ packets. He canme to Alaska in 1977 and becane a resident
in 1979 and has lived here ever since. He worked for the US
Forest Service and ADF&G as a fish biologist. He currently holds
a Sout heast salnon power troll permt and halibut IFQ He has
al so worked as a Dungeness crabber, gillnetter, seiner, |ongliner
and has fished for herring. He has fished in Bristol Bay as well
as Sout heast and has | anded king salnmon on a sport rod. He has a
background as well in Canadi an fisheries.

He concl uded:

| think I can bring a good breadth of know edge to the
Board process. Then when a nenber put nmy nanme in for
the Board | realized how little | actually do know.
It's clear to me how dependent the Board of Fish is on
public input and must maintain a working process to
provi de that input...

CHAl RVAN TORGRERSON asked how he would handl e allocation issues
for the sport fish industry since he is a commercial fishernman.

MR. MERRIGAN replied that he has been involved in allocation
i ssues between sport and conmercial fisheries and believes one
has to work with people and be flexible to get a resolution. He
has seen good | eadership energing on the sport fish side. He said
he would do things on a factual basis. Wen it cones to an
al l ocation decision he would | ook at sonmething consistent wth
Board policy. He feels that he can talk to sport fishernen. "You
don't get away from Petersburg without being sonmewhat
know edgeabl e on sport issues.”

SENATOR W LKEN said he wouldn't support M. Merrigan’s nom nation
but it has nothing to do with him personally. He explained:

My concern is with our Governor not reappointing M.
Virgil Umphenour to the Fish Board and will hope that
when we have a new governor that 1'll be able to talk
to himor her and nmake an attenpt to have M. Unphenour

SENATE RES COW TTEE -22- May 3, 2002



reappointed to a Board that he has served in Interior
Al aska with great distinction...

CHAI RMAN TORGERSON announced that the committee would hear from
M. Art Nel son next.

MR. ART NELSON said that he noved to Alaska in 1982 from Seattle
and has spent tine in different areas of Alaska participating in
different types of fisheries. He worked with the Bering Sea
Fi shernen's Association to assess the troubled king and chum
salnon returns in Western Al aska; that is a major issue the Board
wll have to deal with in the future. He is currently enpl oyed by
the At-Sea Processors Association, which participated in the
Bering Sea polluck fishery.

SENATOR LINCOLN asked him to explain how he worked wth
subsi st ence.

MR. NELSON said he was a fisheries specialist and advocated on
behal f of residents of the small boat commercial fisheries and
subsi stence fishery needs to the Board of Fisheries and the North
Paci fic Fisheries Managenent Council. He also started a program
to put escapenent-nonitoring projects out in various rivers.

SENATOR STEVENS asked what he thought the npbst crucial issue is
in front of the Board of Fisheries right now

MR. NELSON said there would be a handful of issues that he
considers to be inportant for the Board, but probably the nost
i nportant over the next 5 to 10 years is the revitalization of
the state's salnon fisheries. There would be different solutions
for different areas and sone areas m ght not need a sol ution.

SENATOR STEVENS asked how he saw the Board of Fisheries playing
in the procedure.

MR. NELSON replied that the participants in the fisheries have to
bring proposed solutions to the Board and then work with ADF&G.

SENATOR STEVENS said the issues facing the Cook Inlet drainage
are hot buttons because there are so many people and so many
i ndi vidual wusers and user groups. He asked M. Nelson how his
education, training and experience in the industry can contribute
to solving that issue.

MR. NELSON responded that he hoped he could contribute to sone
solutions there. He thought he had a balance in his life
experience with different fisheries to give himthe ability to
see things fromboth sides of the table.

SENATOR W LKEN asked himif he knew Virgil Unphenour

SENATE RES COW TTEE -23- May 3, 2002



MR. NELSON replied yes.

SENATOR W LKEN asked if he felt confortable replacing himon the
Board and representing Yukon Tanana Ri ver drai nage issues.

MR. NELSON replied that he is not as famliar with Interior
i ssues as M. Unphenour was, but he is a friend and could sit
down with himand get nore famliar with those issues. Even if he
isn't a Board nenber, he will be a nenber of the public in future
nmeet i ngs.

SENATOR W LKEN asked if M. Nelson could "confort” him by saying
he woul d use M. Unphenour as a reference for issues that have to
do with Interior river drainages should he have to nmake a
deci sion on those drainages.

MR. NELSON replied, "Absolutely."

SENATOR LI NCOLN sai d she wanted sone assurance that should he be
confirmed, he would never refer to her Yukon River as brown
wat er .

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON t hanked M. Nel son for joining the commttee.
SENATOR W LKEN noved that the commttee report the nanmes of Art
Nel son, Gerry Merrigan and Brett Huber to the full body for
consideration as nomnees to the Board of Fish. There were no
objections and it was so ordered.

CHAI RVAN TORGERSON adj ourned the neeting at 5:57 pm

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 24- May 3, 2002



